NBER WORKING PAPER SERIES

CHINA'S MACROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: THE ROLE OF GRADUALIST REFORMS

Kaiji Chen Tao Zha

Working Paper 31395 http://www.nber.org/papers/w31395

NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH 1050 Massachusetts Avenue Cambridge, MA 02138 June 2023, Revised May 2024

We thank Steven Durlauf, David Lagakos, John Leahy, Eric Leeper, David Romer, and Wei Xiong for helpful discussions, and Yiqing Xiao and Jin Zhang for excellent research assistance. The views expressed herein are those of the authors and do not reflect the views of the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, the Federal Reserve System, or the National Bureau of Economic Research.

NBER working papers are circulated for discussion and comment purposes. They have not been peer-reviewed or been subject to the review by the NBER Board of Directors that accompanies official NBER publications.

© 2023 by Kaiji Chen and Tao Zha. All rights reserved. Short sections of text, not to exceed two paragraphs, may be quoted without explicit permission provided that full credit, including © notice, is given to the source.

China's Macroeconomic Development: The Role of Gradualist Reforms Kaiji Chen and Tao Zha NBER Working Paper No. 31395 June 2023, Revised May 2024 JEL No. E02,E2,E65,F43

ABSTRACT

This paper provides analytic guides to recent literature on China's macroeconomic development, emphasizing the critical role of the gradualist reform approach. Our analysis suggests that from 1978 to 1997, the gradualist approach contributed to China's aggregate total factor productivity and economic growth primarily through policies that facilitated the reallocation of surplus labor from agriculture to non-agricultural sectors. Since 1998, the government's focus shifted, with various reforms encouraging large enterprises, whether state-owned or privately-owned, to enter capital-intensive sectors, making capital deepening the main driver of economic growth. While this strategy sustained China's GDP growth, it also increased trade tensions with global partners, created barriers to transitioning to a consumption-led economy, and threatened China's long-term financial stability, casting long shadows over the Chinese economy.

Kaiji Chen Emory University 1602 Fishburne Drive Atlanta, GA 30322-0001 and Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta kaiji.chen@emory.edu

Tao Zha Department of Economics Emory University Rich Memorial Building 1602 Fishburne Drive Atlanta, GA 30322-2240 and Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta and also NBER tzha@emory.edu

Contents

I. Introduction	
II. Gradualism in China's Macroeconomic Development	4
II.1. Economic Barriers in Pre-1978 China	4
II.2. Sectoral Shifts	6
II.3. Ownership Structure Changes	9
II.4. Trade Liberalization	12
II.5. Foreign Direct Investment	14
II.6. The Housing Market Privatization	15
II.7. Financial Liberalization	18
III. The Long Shadows of Gradualist Reforms	20
III.1. Global Imbalance and Trade War	20
III.2. Barriers in Transitioning to a Consumption-Led Growth Model	21
III.3. Credit Reversal and Looming Debt Challenges	23
IV. Concluding Remarks	25
References	30

I. INTRODUCTION

Over the past four decades, China has experienced remarkable economic growth, with its real GDP growing at an average annual rate of 10% from 1978 until the onset of the Covid-19 crisis (Figure 1). Unlike other less developed countries, China adopted a gradualist approach to economic reforms, encapsulated by the aphorism "crossing the river by touching the stones." This approach contrasts sharply with the "shock therapy" adopted by the former Soviet Union in the late 1980s, which aimed to eliminate all market frictions simultaneously (Klein, 2008). With this approach, the Chinese government opted for a gradual and incremental removal of market imperfections over time. It maintained a central role in the economy, actively intervening in resource allocations through credit and other policies. A prominent example of this approach was the government's initial provision of market-oriented incentives to publicly-owned firms and the postponement of large-scale privatizations until 1998.

Understanding the role of the gradualist approach in China's economic growth is vital to answering key questions: How have China's gradualist reforms contributed to sustained economic growth since 1978? What are the side effects of these reforms, and how do they relate to the challenges currently faced by the Chinese economy? A rich body of literature has studied various aspects of China's gradualist approach and their effects on the macroeconomy. While earlier analyses predominantly adopted a descriptive approach to understanding China's growth, recent studies have utilized micro-level data and modern macroeconomic models to identify the causal effects of specific policy reforms. These models incorporate market frictions and policy distortions that capture unique elements of China's institutional arrangements and enable counterfactual experiments to quantify the impacts of specific economic reforms or policy interventions. An in-depth review of this literature is crucial for understanding how China's gradualist approach has shaped its macroeconomic progression.

We begin with a discussion of the macroeconomic barriers prior to 1978 and present timelines for these barriers to be gradually removed. From these timelines, we select topics that have been extensively studied to shed light on the role of gradualist reforms in China's economic development, providing analytic guides to the literature. This review highlights China's gradualist reform approach across various dimensions, such as sectoral shifts, ownership structure changes, trade openness, foreign direct investment, housing market privatization, and financial market liberalization. We also examine how these reforms at different stages have contributed to economic growth.

We then discuss the long-term implications and challenges these policy shifts pose to both China and the global economy. Our analysis highlights three areas where the gradualist reform approach has introduced challenges to the Chinese macroeconomy in recent years: the global imbalance and the resulting trade war, barriers to transitioning to a consumptionled economy, and looming debt challenges and increasing financial risks stemming from the credit reversal to state-owned enterprises (SOEs) after the 2008-2009 economic stimulus. All these challenges have cast long shadows over the Chinese economy.

Our analysis concludes that China's gradualist approach has facilitated sustained economic growth over four decades through two distinct phases. From 1978-1997, reforms such as the household responsibility system significantly improved agricultural productivity and created a labor surplus. Instead of privatizing labor-intensive firms such as township and village enterprises (TVEs) early on, local governments played an active role in their growth by securing bank credit. Government interventions, coupled with export-processing and openness to foreign direct investment (FDI), facilitated the reallocation of surplus labor from agriculture to labor-intensive industries, boosting total factor productivity (TFP) and GDP growth. As surplus labor depleted and labor costs for these firms rose, reducing their profitability, TFP ceased to be the primary growth driver. Since 1998, the government shifted support toward an investment-driven economy, relying heavily on capital deepening for growth. Our analysis reveals that preferential credit policies toward capital intensive firms, a pro-growth monetary policy, and China's accession to the World Trade Organization (WTO) and integration into the global production network were instrumental in this transition.

What are the side effects of China's gradualist approach in addressing pre-1978 barriers? Our review indicates that this approach contributed to the growing current account surplus and "China shock" (Autor et al., 2016) to its trade partners, leading to the 2018 trade war between the United States and China. In addition, widening inequality among households and high saving rates have created barriers to transitioning to a consumption-led economy. Government interventions in response to large economic shocks, such as the global financial crisis (GFC) and Covid-19, have also made the reform path fragile and potentially reversible. The 2009 economic stimulus triggered a credit reversal from private firms to SOEs, increasing leverage through shadow banking in the corporate and local government sectors after the GFC.

An essential question is why the Chinese government adopted this gradualist strategy, instead of the laissez-faire (big bang) approach taken by the former Soviet Union. The literature on China's gradualist approach to economic reforms highlights significant political economy concerns related to institutional changes and their effects on the paths and strategies of reforms. For example, Xu (2011) notes that China's policy reforms were initially implemented in a few regions before being launched nationwide as a strategy to mitigate political resistance and uncertainty. Similarly, Lau et al. (2000) develop a theoretical framework showing how the dual-track reforms, which are Pareto-improving, minimize political opposition to reform ex-ante as they create no losers, only winners. The dual-track approach

3

is a notable example of a politically feasible strategy for implementing economic reforms, demonstrating the importance of political factors in China's economic success. This paper does not seek to justify the gradualist approach to economic reforms against the big-bang approach, a task that is infeasible given the space limit. Instead, it aims to provide a positive analysis of China's gradualist economic reforms based on a comprehensive review of the existing literature.

Our literature review does not provide an exhaustive account of China's macroeconomic development. Our paper does not cover the significant differences in managerial autonomy, incentives, and workforce management between TVEs and SOEs. These differences were crucial in shaping economic incentives and governance during the initial transition toward a market-oriented economy. A wealth of existing literature extensively examines how China's reforms have reshaped the economic incentives of households, firms, entrepreneurs, and local governments. In his review, Xu (2011) discusses how regional decentralization, a fundamental institutional feature in China, profoundly influences the incentives and behaviors of executives.

In this review article, certain issues that are emphasized as potentially significant in other works receive limited attention. Issues related to the open economy, such as the pro-competitive effects of domestic liberalization through the reduction of import tariffs, non-tariff barriers, and the relaxation of FDI restrictions, are not extensively discussed. The fiscal reforms that took place during the mid-1990s, which placed fiscal constraints on local governments and consequently incentivized them to leverage land values (Ambrose et al., 2015), are briefly touched upon.¹ Needless to say, our interpretation of the role of government policy in fueling China's economic growth may differ from that of other researchers studying these issues and should not be considered definitive.

The literature on China's macroeconomic development is influenced by key empirical facts, the construction of data, and robust data documentation. Estimating growth rates and productivity, for example, can exhibit significant variation depending on how data series are constructed for variables such as GDP, capital formation, employment, and deflators for GDP and investment. Similarly, the breakdown of the economy by sectors, ownership, and access to credit heavily relies on data construction. Notable studies by Holz (2014), Wu (2014), Chang et al. (2016), Nakamura et al. (2016), Chen et al. (2019), Fernald et al. (2021), and Chen et al. (2024b) emphasize the challenges faced by researchers when measuring and interpreting data. Given the intricate nature of China's economy, systematically

¹A substantial body of literature, primarily empirical in nature, investigates the role of "land financing" and housing policy in China's macroeconomy. For a literature review on the impact of housing policy on China's macroeconomy, see Chen (2020).

documenting macroeconomic time series is a challenging task, warranting further research in the future.

The paper is organized as follows: Section II provides analytic guides to the literature on China's gradualist approach to various economic reforms and its contributions to macroeconomic development. Section III discusses the long-term shadows cast by gradualist economic reforms on the Chinese economy. Section IV presents our concluding remarks.

II. GRADUALISM IN CHINA'S MACROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

This section presents an overview of the extensive literature on China's macroeconomic development. We examine China's unique gradualist approach to policy reforms, analyzing its profound impact since 1978.

Before 1978, China faced significant barriers to macroeconomic development. To address these barriers, the government adopted a gradualist approach to reforms starting in 1978. In the initial phase (1978-1997), it leveraged the abundant surplus labor in rural areas to bolster the labor-intensive (light) industrial sector in urban regions. As this surplus labor was depleted, a strategic shift occurred from 1998 to 2016 toward capital-intensive (heavy) sectors such as infrastructure, real estate, and communications, deemed strategically vital. The government not only encouraged commercial banks to extend medium-term and longterm loans to these sectors, often with explicit and implicit guarantees, but also selectively privatized unprofitable non-strategic SOEs while continuing to support strategic SOEs. This gradualist approach aimed to develop a robust investment-driven economy, contributing to China's impressive growth. The subsections below provide a literature survey and analytic guides on these pivotal issues.

Our analysis begins with an outline of the economic barriers that existed prior to 1978 in Section [I.1] Then, in Sections [I.2] to [I.7], we analyze how these barriers were systematically addressed through a sequence of policy reforms. We explore their influence on various macroeconomic sectors and China's impressive growth trajectory. Each subsection offers a focused examination of a specific reform area, accompanied by a clear timeline. This organization provides an essential institutional context for understanding the significance of these reforms.

II.1. Economic Barriers in Pre-1978 China. This subsection provides an overview of the economic barriers to macroeconomic development in pre-1978 China. These barriers distorted economic incentives (e.g., collective farming and exclusive state ownership), prevented the efficient reallocation of labor (e.g., Hukou system and a closed economy), and discouraged capital accumulation (e.g., housing as in-kind transfers and the absence of financial markets).

II.1.1. Collective Farming. From the mid-1950s to the early 1980s, China's agricultural production was characterized by collective farming. Under this system, land was pooled with the ownership of land transferred to the "collective." The collective is the basic accounting and production organizing unit, in charge of the whole production and circulation process, including purchasing agricultural inputs, coordinating farm tasks, selling outputs and distributing income to households.² Net incomes were distributed to households on the basis of work points. Individual households earned work points based on days of work. At the end of the year, the collective's total net income was divided by the total number of work points, determining the value of each work point and subsequent household income. Obviously, under the collective farming system, individual household performance and compensation were disjointed, creating a moral hazard problem as it was difficult to monitor effort. There was no economy of scale and the collective was unable to improve efficiency due to the lack of economies of scale from larger units (Naughton, 2018).

II.1.2. *The Hukou System.* To facilitate the collective farming system, China established the Hukou system, or the household registration system, in 1958. This strict system significantly distorted both China's labor mobility and the allocation of land.

Specifically, under the Hukou system, individuals were broadly categorized as rural or urban workers. A worker seeking to move from the countryside to an urban area for nonagricultural work had to apply through the relevant bureaucracies. In practice, it was virtually impossible for a rural household to get an urban residence permit ("Hukou"). Without an urban residence permit, a rural resident could not go to work in the city. Hence, ruralto-urban migration was essentially prohibited. Likewise, an urban resident had to be tied to the area and job. People who worked outside their authorized domain or geographical area did not qualify for grain rations, employer-provided housing, or health care. The Hukou system is widely regarded as a significant impediment to economic development, and removing its restrictions is often viewed as crucial for fostering the labor mobility needed to support industrialization (Garriga et al., 2017).

II.1.3. Exclusive State Ownership of All Enterprises. China's industrial economy was predominantly composed of SOEs before 1978. The government planned all economic activities. Traditional SOEs behaved like government bureaucracies, simply fulfilling plan targets. They produced goods that were usually in short supply, sold them at a price determined by the government, and faced no competition. Moreover, state employees enjoyed lifelong employment and administratively set wages. Consequently, both entrepreneurs and workers lacked incentives or freedom to improve efficiency (Bai et al., 2006). SOEs also faced a soft budget

 $^{^{2}}$ The size of the collective ranges from 30/40 households, called a "team or small village," to 2000 households, called "commume".

problem with little risk management and accountability. All financial activities were carried out by one bank, which served only as the cashier of the central planner.

Under the cradle-to-grave intra-firm welfare system, moreover, SOEs undertook substantial welfare burdens for their employees, providing services such as childcare, housing, and retirement benefits. There was no social security system independent of SOEs. This heavy welfare burden further constrained SOEs' efficiency and flexibility.

II.1.4. The Economy Closed to the Rest of the World. Before 1978, the total trade volume was only 5% of GDP in 1970 and 1971. The foreign trade policy aimed to insulate the domestic economy from the world economy. Its purpose was to import goods that Chinese firms could not produce and that would alleviate domestic shortages or bottlenecks, such as food or raw materials. Foreign trade was centrally controlled by twelve national foreign trade companies, which transacted domestic commodities at planned prices. Individual households or companies were not permitted to engage in import and export activities. Additionally, from 1949 to 1978, foreign-invested enterprises (FIEs) were almost entirely absent in the country (Naughton, 2018).

II.1.5. Housing Allocation as In-Kind Benefits for SOE Employees. From 1949 to 1978, all land was publicly owned, and the Chinese constitution forbade any organization or individual from buying, selling, leasing, or transferring land. Housing was allocated through a work-unit-employee linkage as a form of in-kind compensation. The size and location of the housing were determined by factors such as the employee's length of service and household size (Fang et al., 2016).

II.1.6. The Absence of Financial Markets. Before 1978, the People's Bank of China (PBC) served both as the central bank and the only commercial bank, operating under the Ministry of Finance. The PBC was responsible for regulating the money supply, setting interest rates, and managing foreign exchange. Additionally, through its extensive network of over 15,000 branches, subbranches, and offices, it controlled approximately 80% of all deposits and provided more than 90% of all loans from financial institutions (Branstetter, 2007).

In reality, the pre-1978 banking system engaged in limited lending. Household savings were very low in relation to GDP. Although national savings were high, they originated mainly from the operating surplus of the state-owned industrial sector. This surplus was reinvested primarily through state budget allocations rather than through lending. Similarly, while there was a network of rural credit cooperatives, their main function was to allocate rural savings rather than to extend loans.

II.2. Sectoral Shifts. China's structural transformation has encompassed both sectoral shifts and changes in ownership structures. This process began with sectoral shifts in the

early 1980s and was followed by significant changes in ownership in the late 1990s. This section focuses on policy reforms related to rural areas, including labor mobility from these areas to cities, and examines their contribution to productivity and economic growth. We present a timeline of rural and migration policy reforms (Table 1) and review the literature on key reforms related to these policies.

The Chinese growth miracle began in the early 1980s with reforms in the rural sector, known as the "rural household responsibility system." This system replaced collective farming, where all output was sold to a national procurement plant at government-planned prices, substantially below potential market value. Farmers were now granted land use rights and allowed to sell their produce in excess of the official quota at market prices. As a result, agricultural production and rural incomes dramatically increased (Lin, 1992), freeing hundreds of millions of farmers from their land and providing the nonfarm sector with an extensive labor supply.

Sectoral shifts, characterized by labor reallocation from agriculture to non-agricultural sectors, were prevalent during the first phase of China's macroeconomic progression in the 1980s and early 1990s. Early studies utilized multi-sector growth accounting with exogenous wedges to address the role of sectoral shifts in economic growth during the initial phase of the reforms. Consistent with our perspective, these studies found the importance of labor reallocation from agriculture to non-agricultural sectors to be high in the early stages of reform, gradually diminishing after 1997. Young (2003) discovers that for the first two decades of China's economic reforms (1978-1997), sectoral labor reallocation was a primary force behind substantial improvements in per capita living standards. Extending the analysis to 1978-2010, Brandt and Zhu (2010) ascertain that the majority of gains from labor reallocation were realized during the first decade of reforms, accounting for one-fourth of aggregate TFP growth (1.04% out of 3.95%).

What are the main drivers of labor reallocation from agriculture to non-agricultural sectors? The increase in labor reallocation resulted from both a higher supply of surplus labor released from the agricultural sector and an increased demand from the non-agricultural sector. On the supply side, several studies highlight the importance of agricultural productivity growth due to the introduction of the household responsibility system and a reduction in labor mobility frictions. In theory, a rise in agricultural productivity can improve aggregate productivity both directly and indirectly by releasing labor from the agricultural sector. Empirically, Brandt et al. (2008) find that between 1978-2004, both productivity growth in agriculture and a relaxation of labor mobility restrictions in rural areas played significant roles in reallocating labor away from agriculture. Dekle and Vandenbroucke (2012) also find that agricultural productivity growth was the most significant driver of Chinese structural transformation between 1978 and 2003, accounting for 47% of labor reallocation.

8

Concurrently, they observe that the impact of reduced frictions on labor mobility was modest. Despite agricultural productivity's role in labor reallocation, Brandt et al. (2008) note that it contributed only about 20% to the growth of aggregate labor productivity during 1978-2004. Similar findings by both Brandt and Zhu (2010) and Cheremukhin et al. (2015) suggest that other factors driving the increase in non-agricultural labor might be significant contributors to aggregate productivity growth during this period.

A complementary perspective on the main driver of labor reallocation is the role of local governments in increasing the demand for non-agricultural labor. Despite the abolition of collective farming, regulatory and discriminatory barriers, such as the Hukou system—the household registration system—persisted and were not fully reformed until 2014. As a result, even with a surplus of labor in the agricultural sector, the Hukou system impeded the mobility of rural populations to industrial urban areas. These barriers compelled many rural households to remain in rural areas and work for rural industrial enterprises, known as TVEs, which emerged during the 1980s. In particular, the rise of TVEs in rural areas absorbed the surplus labor released from the agricultural sector into relatively high productivity manufacturing activities (Wei et al., 2017a). Pei (2002) notes that TVEs absorbed approximately 110 million surplus workers from farms to the rural industrial sector between 1978 and 1996.

During the 1980s and early 1990s in China, agency problems between non-state firms and banks were common. Local governments, however, played a pivotal role in supporting TVEs with investment and credit access. Given that a TVE's property often provided insufficient collateral for loans, banks typically required a guarantor. The local community collectively owned TVEs, with the township government representing the community's interests and acting as the de facto executive owner (Xu and Zhang, 2009). This arrangement motivated local governments to support TVEs, often with township economic commissions acting as guarantors for the enterprises (Oi, 1992). Such support from local governments significantly boosted the demand for industrial labor in rural areas

Such a government intervention was instrumental in raising aggregate TFP during the initial phase of macroeconomic development. Brandt and Zhu (2007) provide evidence that China's non-state sector, with TVEs as a major component, exhibited considerably higher TFP compared to the state sector. The level of investment in the non-state sector was central to its growth, contributing significantly to the advancement of the Chinese economy. A strong correlation was found between the rate of investment growth in the non-state sector, the credit directed toward this sector, and the GDP growth rate.

With a gradualist approach to economic reforms, it took time for the frictions in labor mobility under the Hukou system to be relaxed through various policy reforms, as stated in Table 1. More recent studies have focused on policies that hinder labor mobility and distort labor reallocation from rural to urban areas, as well as on the regional variation of these policies. For instance, Ngai et al. (2019) examine two barriers to labor mobility associated with the Hukou system. The first barrier is land policy, under which agricultural workers received land to cultivate but were unable to freely trade it. The second is social transfers, such as education and healthcare, that were contingent upon one's Hukou status. Their model of migration demonstrates that land policy led to over-employment in agriculture, posing a significant barrier to industrialization, whereas social transfers primarily generated employment in the non-agricultural sector within rural areas, thereby decelerating urbanization. Adamopoulo et al. (2022) explore the distortional effects of China's land institutions on agricultural productivity and overall economic output. Their analysis highlights how resource allocation and misallocation among farmers of varying productivity, as well as labor selection between agricultural and non-agricultural sectors, influence these effects. They find that land reforms, which eliminated distortions in agricultural productivity, not only tripled the productivity of agricultural labor but also increased real GDP per worker by 18%.

In addition to such land policies, research highlights the pivotal role of migration policy in facilitating China's structural shifts. Tombe and Zhu (2019) utilize a two-sector multiregional model to assess the impact of reduced migration costs on labor across regions. They observe a significant increase in migration—15% within provinces and 82% between provinces—from 2000 to 2005, leading to a 4.8% increase in aggregate labor productivity. Further extending their study to 2000-2015, Hao et al. (2020) discover that China's internal migration costs for moving from agricultural to urban areas decreased by 45% during this period. This reduction greatly contributed to economic growth and was instrumental in the substantial labor reallocation from agriculture, resulting in significant productivity gains. The authors conclude that migration policy has been a central element in China's structural shifts.

In summary, the literature on China's structural transformation highlights the significant role that sectoral shifts, especially the reallocation of labor from agriculture to nonagricultural sectors, have played since the onset of economic reforms. Given the rural-urban labor mobility frictions under the Hukou system, local governments were instrumental in this reallocation by facilitating credit support for TVEs during the 1980s and the early 1990s. Since the 2000s, reforms enhancing labor mobility, particularly those targeting land policies and the Hukou system, have been an important driver of China's structural transformation.

II.3. Ownership Structure Changes. China's economic reforms, initiated in 1978, followed a gradualist approach rather than an immediate shift to a fully market-driven capitalist system. Initially (1978-1997), the government supported a diversified ownership structure through active entry of new non-state firms, particularly TVEs. This allowed for growth in light industries like consumer goods and textiles. While retaining ownership, the government transferred operational control of TVEs to individuals and actively supported them with favorable credit access. As the surplus rural labor pool depleted, TVEs and small SOEs lost their competitive edge, prompting the government to allow their bankruptcy or privatization.

In 1998, China began privatizing small and medium-sized SOEs, collectively owned enterprises (COEs), and TVEs. The policy of "Grasp the large and let go of the small" aimed to retain strategic control over large SOEs in capital-intensive sectors like infrastructure, real estate, and communications. This led to massive resource reallocation from state to non-state sectors. Non-state employment rose steadily from less than 5% in 1997 to over 60% in 2020. The remaining SOEs, mostly central SOEs, underwent corporatization with the State-Owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission (SASAC) established in 2003 as their legal owner. Table 2 summarizes the timeline of major reforms.

There is a strand of extensive literature with a variety of perspectives on how the transition from SOEs to privately-owned enterprises (POEs) has bolstered China's productivity growth. Initial studies adopted a growth accounting framework to quantify the impact of reallocating labor and capital from the state sector to the non-state sector on overall economic growth via aggregate TFP growth, yet they did not pinpoint the underlying causes of this resource reallocation. Dollars and Wei (2007) are pioneers in utilizing firm-level survey data to demonstrate that, between 2002 and 2004, SOEs had lower returns on capital than both domestic non-state and foreign firms, indicating substantial potential for productivity gains from capital reallocation. Building on this approach, Brandt et al. (2008) discover that diminishing barriers to labor reallocation between state and non-state sectors contributed to approximately one quarter of aggregate output growth from 1978 to 2004. Hsieh and Klenow (2009) are the first to employ a structural model incorporating wedges to estimate the extent of resource misallocation, finding a 15% improvement in allocative efficiency from 1998 to 2005, or an annual rate of 2.0%. Of this enhancement, 39% was attributable to the reduction of misallocation between SOEs and other entities.

While Hsieh and Klenow (2009) focus on allocative efficiency alterations within the manufacturing sector, Brandt et al. (2013) broaden the scope of research to encompass allocative efficiency across regions. In contrast to Hsieh and Klenow (2009), they determine that the misallocation of capital between state and non-state sectors surged markedly after 1997. Their findings indicate that, although resource misallocation might have lessened within narrowly defined manufacturing industries, significant impediments to factor mobility persisted across regions and ownership types in China's non-agricultural economy, spanning manufacturing and services, on a more macroscopic scale. Beyond the reallocation of resources among existing firms, several studies have explored the influence of the entry and exit of SOEs and non-SOEs on the enhancement of aggregate allocative efficiency. For instance, Brandt et al. (2012) ascertain that net entry of firms accounted for about half of the productivity growth in the manufacturing sector over 1998-2007, with the emergence and natural selection of new entities in the non-state sector playing a significant role. Through an equilibrium model of heterogeneous firms, Hsieh and Song (2015) conclude that transformations within the state sector and the inception of new statecontrolled entities collectively drove 21% of China's growth from 1998 to 2007, while the exit and privatization of SOEs had a negligible impact on overall growth. Li et al. (2016) illustrate that the retreat of SOEs from competitive downstream sectors and their concentration in monopolistic upstream industries represent an equilibrium outcome arising from the full control and effective ownership by an elite group.

What then are the primary drivers of resource reallocation between SOEs and private firms? Song et al. (2011) pioneer the development of an equilibrium model to posit that a combination of heterogeneity in productivity levels and asymmetric credit frictions between SOEs and POEs was a key driver for resource reallocation between the mid-1990s and 2007. According to their model, despite SOEs being less productive, they faced no financial constraints, leading to a dispersion in the marginal product of capital between the two sectors. As POEs accumulated capital through self-financing, labor and capital were progressively reallocated from SOEs to POEs, thereby driving sustained TFP growth due to improved capital allocation. This model successfully replicates the high economic growth, sustained capital returns, and large current account surplus observed in China during this period. Since that SOEs are more capital-intensive than POEs, however, the benchmark model of Song et al. (2011) predicts a declining aggregate investment rate, which contradicts observed data. Although aggregate TFP growth played a crucial role in China's GDP growth during 1998-2016, the decomposition analysis by Chen and Zha (2020) indicates that capital deepening was the predominant driver of economic growth in this period, accounting for over 60% of the rise in GDP per capita.

Recent studies have considered alternative channels influencing aggregate productivity growth beyond resource misallocation and financial frictions. Midrigan and Xu (2014), employing a calibrated model, find that financial frictions caused negligible TFP losses from misallocation but had a substantial effect on technological adoption and market entry. Using a heterogeneous-firm model with two distinct financial frictions—default risks and fixed costs of issuing loans—Bai et al. (2018) determine that such frictions accounted for 60% of the dispersion in the marginal product of capital within the manufacturing sector. Conversely, Wu (2018) estimates that financial frictions accounted for only an 8.3% reduction in aggregate TFP at the intensive margin, representing 30% of China's capital misallocation

from 1998 to 2007. Nonetheless, policy distortions emerged as significant contributors to capital misallocation, leading to the majority of the aggregate TFP loss. These distortions gave SOEs, state-favored POEs, and firms in strategically important sectors considerable advantages in the form of implicit subsidies or tax incentives.

If policy distortions led to significant efficiency losses, why then did the government persist in influencing capital and labor allocation to certain sectors throughout different economic development phases, and why did it maintain certain policy distortions, like subsidizing heavy industries with inflexible banking regulations, while phasing out others? Liu (2019) demonstrates in a model incorporating input-output linkages that market distortions in downstream industries have cumulative effects on upstream sectors, resulting in the most substantial distortions in the latter. These discrepancies create an incentive for government subsidies to the upstream sector. Since SOEs predominantly occupy upstream industries, they receive more production subsidies, such as credit support, than POEs. In a political economy framework, Wang (2020) endogenizes the extent of credit constraints facing private enterprises, elucidating that the government balances the objectives of extracting tax revenues from the private sector and keeping enough political supports from workers in the state sector. Initially, the government's credit policies spur rapid growth by reallocating resources to the private sector. As the private sector reaches a critical mass, however, the government increasingly over-invests in the state sector to maintain its share of employment.

In summary, the literature on changes in China's ownership structure highlights the critical role of resource misallocation and reallocation in driving the country's aggregate TFP and economic growth since 1998. While the reallocation associated with changes in ownership structure is pivotal in understanding China's aggregate TFP and economic growth, future research should consider how the interplay between ownership structure changes and sectoral shifts has influenced post-1998 GDP growth. In particular, alongside SOE privatization, China has transitioned toward a phase of heavy industrialization, providing preferential credit to firms in capital-intensive sectors. This government policy of preferential credit to capital-intensive sectors represents an effective "helping hand" approach, aimed at stimulating economic growth through strategic investment.³

II.4. **Trade Liberalization.** In addition to policy reforms influencing sectoral shifts and ownership structures, China's gradualist approach is also reflected in its opening-up policy.

³Bai et al. (2020a) reveal that local governments offer a "helping hand" to favored private firms, typically the largest local employers. Special deals, exclusive to select firms, provide these entities with land and bank credit at sub-market rates while obstructing the entry of competitors. According to Bai et al. (2016), this blend of widespread entrepreneurial activity and robust local government support is a unique aspect of China, acting as an imperfect substitute for an economically well-functioned institution.

Commencing in 1978, China adopted an export-led development strategy, progressively liberalizing trade and deregulating FDI. The initial step in this opening came in 1978 when FIEs were allowed to engage in export processing (EP). For example, Hong Kong firms shipped fabric to Chinese rural firms, particularly TVEs, for garment production. By 1980-1981, four special economic zones (SEZs) were established specifically for EP activities, where exporters, predominantly FIEs, could circumvent import controls and regulatory monopolies. By 1986, EP activities were expanded to all firms in coastal provinces, leading to a significant shift in export composition from 1985 to 1995, moving from resource-intensive products like petroleum to labor-intensive commodities such as textiles, garments, footwear, and sporting goods. This export-led strategy during this period aligns with China's overall development strategy of supporting light industries with its abundant labor released from the agricultural sector.

China's accession to the WTO in 2001 marked a significant milestone in its trade liberalization journey. In 2004, trade rights were extended to all domestic and foreign private firms, not just those engaged in EP. A critical aspect of WTO accession was the attainment of Permanent Most Favored Nation (MFN) status, which, prior to 2002, required annual renewal, exposing Chinese exporters to potential tariff spikes. From 2002 onward, China's permanent MFN status eliminated the threat of sudden tariff increases. As highlighted by <u>Handley and Limão</u> (2017), this status significantly catalyzed China's export boom, particularly to the U.S. market. Over the past two decades, China has steadily shifted from labor-intensive to capital-intensive products, with electronics becoming the largest single contributor to Chinese manufactured exports. China has become the world's largest exporter of high-technology goods, accounting for nearly all the increase in global high-tech exports since the turn of the century.

To facilitate its role in the global production chain, China adopted a gradualist reform approach in its import policy as well. From 1994 to 2002, tariffs were unilaterally reduced from an average of 40% to 16%. Predominantly, China's imports consist of resource and capital-intensive inputs; for instance, in 2003, 23.9% of imports were capital-intensive products such as steel, chemicals, and plastic raw materials. The next major category is skill-intensive commodities like machinery, transport equipment, and electronics, illustrating China's focus predominantly on the final assembly stage of production. Table 3 provides a list of trade policy reforms gradually implemented over time.

The literature studies the positive impact of trade liberalization, using China's 2001 WTO accession as a policy experiment, on output growth via various channels. For instance, Khandelwal et al. (2013) estimate that the productivity gain from removing export quotas in 2005 was substantial. Using firm-level data from Chinese customs, they find that 71% of the overall gain in productivity from removing quotas was attributable to the elimination of quota

misallocation, while 29% was due to removing the quota itself. Moreover, China's WTO membership, by granting it permanent Normal Trade Relations status and reducing tariff uncertainty in its trade partners, stimulated sectoral reallocation, leading to productivity improvements (Erten and Leigh, 2021). Other studies focus on the role of China's tariff reduction as commitment for WTO accession on firms' productivity improvement. (Brandt et al., 2017), for example, finds that reductions in input tariffs and input costs, made possible by trade liberalization, enabled entrants to produce with higher productivity, leading to growth of within-firm productivity. Brandt and Morrow (2017) further show that a reduction in import tariffs resulted in increased access to imported inputs, especially capital-intensive intermediary goods.

II.5. Foreign Direct Investment. Policy reforms on FDI were closely linked to trade policy reforms. China began to open up to foreign investment in 1978 by establishing SEZs in 1979 and 1980. Initially, investments primarily came from Hong Kong and Taiwan, and the inflow of FDI during the 1980s brought significant changes to the regional economies of Guangdong and Fujian. Until 1992-1993, FDI was largely confined to EP activities. Since the late 1990s, however, FDI has increasingly targeted capital-intensive sectors, in line with China's transition to an investment-driven economy. Manufacturing accounted for more than half of all Chinese FDI inflows until 2010, with real estate becoming the second most significant sector for foreign investment, representing over 20% of incoming investment since 2008. Additionally, since the early 2000s, a second wave of export restructuring through FDI introduced advanced production technology and expertise in high-tech production networks to China (Naughton, 2018). Table 4 provides a timeline of various FDI reforms.

The literature on the contributions of FDI to China's growth focuses on two primary channels. The first is the promotion of manufacturing exports, with a consensus that inward FDI significantly contributed to China's capital deepening before its WTO accession. Early studies, such as those by Zhang and Song (2000) and Yao (2006), highlight the positive impact of FDI on economic growth through manufacturing exports prior to the WTO accession. In addition to capital accumulation, another critical channel through which FDI contributed to China's growth during the 1980s and 1990s was TFP growth via technology transfer. Hong and Wang (2011) develop a spatial dynamic model to assess the TFP externalities generated by FDI over 1980-2005, finding significantly positive impacts both within and across regions. Further, Jiang et al. (2019) examine the role of FDI in technology transfer through joint ventures. As part of the "market for technology" strategy, China implemented sector

⁴Some other researchers, however, argue that gains from trade liberalization are much lower than those from domestic reforms. For instance, Tombe and Zhu (2019) find that during 2000-2005, 36% of growth in aggregate labor productivity was due to reductions of internal trade costs and migration costs, while only 8% was attributable to reductions of international trade costs.

restrictions and joint venture requirements in 1995. Such regulations required foreign investors to partner with Chinese firms to form joint ventures, typically expecting the transfer of advanced technology and management know-how to Chinese partner firms. Jiang et al. (2019) find that joint ventures significantly facilitated technology transfer.

Several other studies focus on the effect of inward FDI since China's WTO accession and its relaxation of FDI regulations. A recurring theme in this literature is that while inward FDI may harm domestic rivals through competition, it also encourages technology transfer (Aitken and Harrison, 1999). Fu (2011) finds that within technology-intensive industries, while processing-trade FDI generated positive "information spillover" effects (such as market intelligence and marketing techniques), "technological spillovers" negatively affected the export performance of domestic firms due to increased export competition. Lu et al. (2017) investigate the cross-industry spillover effects of FDI and conclude that inward FDI had positive implications for industries not in direct competition with FDI firms, but negative implications for those that were.

Since the U.S. sanction on Chinese telecommunication giant Huawei in 2019, China has increasingly emphasized the development of domestic innovation capabilities and reduced its reliance on foreign technology. This shift in policy poses interesting questions about the future role of FDI in China's growth, marking an important area for further research.

II.6. The Housing Market Privatization. The transition of housing allocation to a market-based system in China was a key component of the government's strategy to prioritize heavy industrialization in the late 1990s, with real estate becoming a critical capital-intensive sector. This section explores various housing policy reforms (Table 5) and examines their impacts on the Chinese macroeconomy as part of the broader shift toward the development of an investment-driven economy.

China's housing reforms began in the 1980s by encouraging the sale of existing public housing units and increasing the rents charged for public housing. It was not until the mid-1990s, however, that massive housing market privatization was launched. In 1994, the government allowed SOE employees to purchase state-owned houses at a discount, known as "reformed housing." By 1998, in-kind housing benefits were formally terminated, and banks began offering residential mortgage loans at subsidized interest rates. These reforms, among others, led to a steady increase in the demand for commodity housing—houses sold at market prices—over the next two decades. Housing stock became a significant component of Chinese households' wealth, accounting for 75.5% of urban households' wealth in 2013—a sharp contrast to the U.S., where residential property comprises approximately 40% of household wealth.

The surging demand for commodity housing resulted in an unprecedented boom from 2003 to 2016. During this period, real house prices in the four first-tier cities grew at an average annual rate of 13.1%, and at 10.5% in second-tier cities, outpacing the aggregate income growth rate of 10% over the same time frame (Fang et al.) 2016). Although house prices experienced a temporary slowdown between late 2013 and 2014, they sharply rebounded during 2015-2016 and stabilized in 2017 (Liu and Xiong, 2020).

A key question in the literature is the extent to which housing market privatization and other policies beginning in the 1990s contributed to the rapid increase in housing demand in China. Hiroshi et al. (2013), using data from the Chinese Household Income Project, report that the fraction of households owning privatized public housing rose from 27% in 1995 to 61% in 2002. During the same period, the fraction of households owning commodity housing increased modestly from 1.3% to 7.4%. Privatization led to increased average consumption of housing services. Wang (2011) finds that households living in state-owned housing units prior to the reform consumed approximately 15% less housing services than they would have in a private market.

The literature also explores how various gradualist reforms in other sectors of Chinese economy contributed to China's housing boom, which coincided with its structural transformation and massive labor reallocation from the state sector to the non-state sector. Chen and Wen (2017) argue that, along with SOEs privatization, the current generation of entrepreneurs turned to housing as a store of value for their rapidly growing wealth, anticipating the eventual depletion of the labor surplus and lower future returns on capital. Thus, the high annual rate of growth in house prices during the transition to a market-based economy is justified by the high returns to capital enjoyed by entrepreneurs in the private sector, who are marginal investors in the housing market. The rural-to-urban migrations have also been argued to play a significant role in the housing boom, with migration flows to cities generating an average 6.4% annual rate of growth in national house prices between 1998 and 2012 (Garriga et al., 2017). Another factor contributing to the housing boom is the rapid growth of disposable household income during China's economic transition. Fang et al. (2016) argue that strong housing demand and fast growth of house prices can be rationalized by expectations of persistently high future income growth, despite low-income home buyers often facing a heavy financial burden, purchasing homes worth eight to ten times their annual incomes.⁵

The relaxation of China's mortgage policies has also fueled the housing boom. Since 2005, the government has aimed to balance boosting GDP growth with controlling house

⁵Another explanation for high house prices is the unbalanced sex ratio in China. Wei et al. (2017b) find that cities with a more unbalanced sex ratio experienced higher house prices between 2003 and 2009, implying that an increase in the male-to-female sex ratio accounted for between 30% and 48% of the increase in real house prices in 35 major cities during this period.

price growth by regulating or deregulating the housing market. This includes policies such as mortgage interest rate policy and credit policy (e.g., loan-to-value limits). Chen et al. (2020a) explore the impact of such policies on the housing market by exploiting a policy experiment in 2014 that relaxed the loan-to-value (LTV) ratio limit for secondary houses using administrative data on more than 3 million mortgage originations. They show that the policy change fueled a housing boom by not only encouraging direct investments in secondary houses but also increasing demand for primary homes, especially among middleaged, highly educated households, who trade up housing for speculative purposes.

What are the impacts of housing booms on other sectors of the Chinese economy and its long-run growth? The literature highlights two effects. One effect, as argued by <u>Chen</u> and Wen (2017), is the crowding-out effect: housing booms crowd out productive physical capital and slow down economic growth. Using firm-level data, they find that between 2007 and 2013, about 45% of Chinese firms in the non-housing sector invested in real estate for expected future capital gains rather than conducting their own core business operations. The investment share in such property averaged about 15% of these firms' total physical assets and was stable over time. Similarly, <u>Chen et al.</u> (2017) report that between 2000 and 2015, land investment accounted for 27% of the total investments made by publicly listed firms in China, excluding those in the financial, real estate, and construction sectors. Moreover, they find that following the implementation of the housing purchase restriction policy, non-land-holding firms increased their investments and their R&D expenditures and patent applications, suggesting a crowding-out effect of housing booms on R&D activities.

The other effect of housing booms is the crowd-in effect. Jiang et al. (2021) show empirically that growth in housing prices encourages infrastructure investment growth. Based on this evidence, they show in a general-equilibrium model that land sales revenue received by the government from real estate developers for housing construction is used to finance infrastructure investment, which, in turn, enhances the productivity of the non-housing good production. This generates the crowd-in effects of housing on GDP growth via encouraging capital investment of the non-housing sector.

While both effects of housing market expansion are evident in reality, it is undeniable that housing booms have long been a major driver of the Chinese macroeconomy, impacting not only real estate but also its upstream and downstream sectors. As discussed in Section III, however, when infrastructure investment reaches a point of over-capacity and the debt burden in the real estate sector begins to threaten China's financial stability, the burst of housing bubbles may have persistent negative impacts on the Chinese economy, akin to the challenges Japan faced in the 1990s.

II.7. Financial Liberalization. Financial policies, such as monetary and credit policies, have been crucial in shaping the reforms during China's investment-driven era. This section explores how changes in these policies have gradually liberalized China's financial markets, presenting a timeline of these reforms (Table 6) and reviewing the relevant literature in this context.

Similar to other policy reforms, China's financial reforms have followed a gradualist approach, broadly divided into two stages: the first from 1979 to the late 1990s, and the second since the late 1990s on. During the initial stage, the government employed a "dual-track" strategy: continuous support was provided to SOEs via favorable credit policy, while the non-state sector was allowed to expand rapidly. The "Big Four" state banks, carved out of the PBC, were given more discretion in lending, enabling them to divert resources intended for the state sector to more profitable projects in the non-state sector (Brandt and Zhu, 2007). This continuous support for the state sector, however, exacerbated the soft-budget problem of SOEs and created a large volume of non-performing loans by the late 1990s, triggering the next round of reforms (Huang, 2020).

Since the mid-1990s, a new wave of financial reforms began. In 1995, laws were passed providing a legal framework for commercial banks and establishing the PBC as the central bank. From 1998 to 2018, M2 growth was used as an intermediate target of monetary policy. Concurrently, China underwent interest rate liberalization, starting with its interbank rate in 1996-1997 and followed by a gradual removal of the statutory floor and ceiling on lending rates, as well as those on deposit rates, since the early 2000s. This period also saw the gradual establishment of a regulatory framework, with the China Banking Regulatory Commission established in 2003. By 2013, China had adopted Basel III capital regulations, and in 2016, the macro-prudential assessment (MPA) system was established.

The gradual financial reforms have significantly influenced China's growth dynamics in both stages. At the first stage (1978-1995), Brandt and Zhu (2000) find that the high average growth rate was accompanied by boom-bust cycles, with economic growth and inflation rates moving in tandem. They argue that while resource allocation to the more productive nonstate sector was key for growth acceleration, it left state-owned banks underfunded for the commitments outlined in the credit plan for the state sector. This forced the PBC to provide additional lending to state-owned banks, resulting in both an increase in the money supply and inflation. To control credit diversion outside the plan, the central government periodically eliminated all discretionary lending by state banks, restricting funds flow to the non-state sector. Huang and Wang (2011) show that the effects of financial repression, such as interest rate regulations and capital controls, on economic growth were positive initially but turned negative later. As the Chinese economy shifted to an investment-driven model in the late 1990s (the second stage), the mechanisms for monetary and credit policies impacting economic growth also evolved. Chen et al. (2018) show that during this period, China's pro-growth monetary policy could be well approximated by an endogenous regime-switching, quantity-based policy rule. Under this rule, monetary policy endogenously switches between regimes depending on whether actual GDP growth is above or below the target set by the central government. In normal situations where GDP growth exceeded the target, M2 growth responded positively to support the growth. Conversely, in a shortfall state, the PBC pursued aggressively expansionary monetary policy to meet the GDP growth target. For credit policy, Chang et al. (2016) highlight that preferential credit policy toward capital-intensive sectors during the investment-driven era was crucial in driving both an increase in the investment rate and a decline in the labor income share in GDP. They develop a two-sector economy model showing how credit rationing makes firms in capital-intensive sectors profitable, increasing their capital demand over time, and reallocating capital from labor-intensive to capital-intensive sectors.

Several studies examine the merits of a gradualist approach to interest rate liberalization in an economy like China's. Liu et al. (2020b) argue that an abrupt interest rate liberalization might reduce aggregate productivity by exacerbating cross-sector misallocation and advocate for reforms to improve private firms' access to credit and to reduce distorted incentives for SOEs. Similarly, Liu et al. (2020a) demonstrate that while capital account liberalization under financial repression could reduce distortions in intertemporal trade, it would also raise funding costs and domestic lending rates, reallocating resources to less productive SOEs and exacerbating cross-sector misallocation.

Summary: China's gradualist approach to economic reforms has significantly contributed to its sustained growth over the past four decades through two distinct stages. Initially, reforms were aimed at reallocating resources to the labor-intensive industrial sector, significantly enhancing aggregate productivity and GDP growth. As surplus labor in rural areas was depleted and the profitability of labor-intensive TVEs and SOEs declined, the government shifted its focus, encouraging large SOEs and POEs to enter capital-intensive sectors such as real estate, while supporting these firms with preferential credit policies. In addition, the government implemented a pro-growth, quantity-based monetary policy framework and pursued favorable mortgage policies, both designed to stimulate capital investment through bank credit to firms and households. During the investment-driven era, China's accession to the WTO further facilitated a strategic shift in its export composition from labor-intensive to capital-intensive (and even technology-intensive) goods, effectively integrating into the global production network.

III. THE LONG SHADOWS OF GRADUALIST REFORMS

Despite China's remarkable economic growth over the past four decades, its gradualist approach to economic reforms carries inherent limitations. This section evaluates how delaying certain reforms and preserving market imperfections, due to political prioritization of SOEs and deep-rooted institutional barriers, have cast long shadows on the future of the Chinese economy. It discusses three specific challenges inherited from the gradualist approach: Section III.1 examines the causes of China's growing current account surplus and the resulting trade war; Section III.2 explores the barriers to transitioning toward a consumption-led growth model; and Section III.3 analyzes the looming debt challenges and financial risks facing the Chinese economy. Each of these issues highlights the need for accelerated reforms to address these limitations and ensure the long-term health of China's economic landscape.

III.1. Global Imbalance and Trade War. China's current account surplus has seen a marked increase since the 2000s, growing from around 2% of GDP before 2001 to over 9% in 2008. Several studies attribute this growth to financial frictions that limit firms' capacity to increase investment during the second phase of growth acceleration, resulting in net capital outflows (Song et al., 2011; Imrohoroglu and Zhao, 2020; Wang et al., 2017). Other studies offer a different perspective, linking the growing current account surplus to rising saving rates in both household and corporate sectors (Du and Wei, 2016; Chang et al., 2016; Coeurdacier et al., 2015). While all these studies interpret a country's current account balance as the difference between national savings and national investment (net capital outflow), Ju et al. (2021) argue that the growing trade surplus following China's WTO accession has been a main driver of the surplus. Consequently, net capital outflows, rising investment rates, and current account surpluses can coexist.

China's escalating exports and growing current account surplus following its WTO accession have not only impacted its own economy but also had profound global effects. The existing literature debates on whether China shock is a boon or bane to the rest of the World economy. Studies like Autor et al. (2013) show how increased U.S. imports from China led to job losses and lower wages in American manufacturing sectors. Conversely, Wang et al. (2018) argue that U.S. imports of intermediate goods from China boosted local employment and wages outside manufacturing. Similarly, Bloom et al. (2016) find that competition from Chinese imports spurred innovation within European firms most affected by these imports.

An inevitable consequence of China shock is the tension between China and its trade partners, such as the U.S., which triggered the 2018 trade war between these two countries. The three rounds of tariffs that were enacted increased tariff rates by 25% on USD 50 billion worth of commodities and by 10% on USD 200 billion worth of commodities imported from China. In retaliation, the Chinese government responded by increasing tariffs on U.S. exports from 8.0% in January 2018, to 18.3% in September 2018, and to about 22% in September 2019.

This trade war, a direct result of China's current account surplus due to gradualist economic reforms, has been found to significantly affect both the Chinese and U.S. economies. One the one hand, it has prompted Chinese firms to divert exports away from the U.S. (Jiao et al., Forthcoming). On the other, regions in the U.S. heavily affected by China's retaliatory tariffs have experienced substantial declines in consumption and employment (Waugh, 2019). More important for future research, increases in non-tariff barriers and FDI restrictions are likely to exert significant long-term impacts on global economic relations and on China's transition to an innovation-driven economy.

III.2. Barriers in Transitioning to a Consumption-Led Growth Model. As the rate of returns on investment declined following massive investment after the GFC, China decided to transition from an investment-driven to a consumption-led economy. Despite its previously growth-enhancing role, however, China's gradualist approach to economic reforms complicates this transition for two main reasons. First, the absence of adequate social insurance has compelled households to increase savings as a form of self-insurance against various uncertainties. This lack of consumption demand has been further exacerbated by the decrease in household income shares in GDP due to the investment-driven strategy. Second, various reforms, particularly in the housing sector, have widened inequality among households and thus hindered the effectiveness of expansionary policies on the growth of aggregate consumption.

III.2.1. *High Saving Rate.* China's gradualist economic reforms have driven consistently high saving rates, which have been above 35% of GDP since the 1980s, peaking at over 50% around 2010 (Yang, 2012). Household saving rates also surged, increasing from 6%-7% of GDP in the late 1970s to over 25% by 2009 (Curtus et al., 2015), challenging the permanent income hypothesis and creating the "high saving rate" puzzle.

This phenomenon has been extensively studied in relation to China's structural transformation.⁷ Reduced public provision of education, health, and housing amid large-scale market-driven reforms in the late 1990s compelled households to save for education and healthcare expenses and to afford housing down payments (Chamon and Prasad, 2010). Further studies explore how income risks, intensified by SOE restructuring and insufficient social safety nets, influence savings. Wen (2010), for example, attributes the high saving rate puzzle to borrowing constraints and uninsured risks faced by households, which cause

⁶At the 19th National Congress of the Communist Party of China, the central government emphasized that consumption should play a fundamental role in economic development.

⁷Other studies attribute China's high saving rate to its one-child policy from 1979-2016, including Wei and Zhang (2011), Curtus et al. (2015), Choukhmane et al. (2017), and Imrohoroglu and Zhao (2018).

the marginal propensity to consume to negatively depend on changes in permanent income. Chamon et al. (2013) observe that increasing household saving rates correlate with rising idiosyncratic income risks, which were exacerbated from 1998 to 2009 due to SOE restructuring and pension reforms. Santaeulàlia-Llopis and Zheng (2018) observe that as economic growth accelerated, income risks, especially permanent ones, increased significantly, worsening consumption insurance. He et al. (2018) find that SOE layoffs in the late 1990s heightened unemployment fears, contributing significantly to precautionary savings among SOE workers.

China's high national saving rates since the late 1990s is also the result of its investmentdriven development strategy. While household labor incomes have been channeled into subsidizing the production of goods and services, their shares in GDP have steadily declined since the late 1990s (Chang et al., 2016). As a result, growth in household incomes has lagged behind productivity growth, leaving Chinese households unable to consume much of what they produce. In the past, the Chinese government circumvented domestic demand deficiencies and maintained economic growth by stimulating investment and exports, rather than redistributing income from the corporate sector to households. As returns on investment have declined recently and tensions with trade partners have intensified, however, the barriers to transitioning to a consumption-led growth model now pose a significant threat to China's long-term growth prospects.⁸

III.2.2. Growing Inequalities. In 1985, the Chinese government initiated policies to allow some households (and regions) to become wealthy first, setting the stage for extraordinary economic growth over the last four decades that has been accompanied by increasing income and wealth inequality across households. The top 10% of income earners' share increased from 27% to 41% from 1978 to 2015, while the top 10% of wealth share soared to 67% by 2015, similar to levels in the United States (Piketty et al., 2019).

Between 1992 and 2007, wage inequality rose alongside an average real wage increase. Ge and Yang (2014) attribute these trends to capital accumulation, shifts in skill-biased technology, and rural-to-urban migration. Piketty et al. (2019) note that the urban-rural income gap widened, but most increases in inequality occurred within both rural and urban areas themselves. The "intergenerational income elasticity" increased more for younger cohorts, especially for urban and coastal residents (Fan et al., 2021).⁹

⁸These barriers have left China vulnerable to significant economic shocks. For example, the burst of speculated housing bubbles, fueled by tightened financial regulations on real estate developers in 2022, triggered widespread negative effects on investment in both the corporate and household sectors (Chen et al., 2024a). Moreover, unlike previous major shocks such as the GFC, the shocks from Covid-19 lockdowns have permanently dampened household consumption and GDP growth (Chen et al., 2024b).

⁹With the secular slowdown in economic growth, income and wealth inequality in China has begun to decline since 2009. The Gini coefficient for income dropped by 2.3 percentage points between 2008 and

House price surges since the 2000s have been the main driver of wealth inequality. Chen et al. (2020a), using data from the 2011-2017 CHFSs, find significant house value increases for educated, middle-aged households during the 2015-2016 housing boom, contributing to wealth disparities. Knight et al. (2020) estimate that 45.3% of wealth inequality growth between 2002 and 2013 stemmed from rising house prices.

A high level of income and wealth inequality poses another barrier to transitioning China into a consumption-led growth model. Research indicates that the marginal propensity to consume decreases as permanent income or wealth increases (Straub, 2019; Fisher et al., 2019). In recent efforts to stimulate household consumption, China dramatically expanded its money supply; as of December 2022, the outstanding M2 reached 213.25 trillion RMB (approximately 41 trillion USD), more than double its real GDP for that year. This value contrasts with the 21.2 trillion USD for the M2 supply in the U.S. Despite these efforts, the rapid increase in M2 primarily boosted household deposits, with a net increase of 17.84 trillion RMB in 2022, rather than fueling consumption. This suggests that without addressing income inequality through redistributive policies, merely lowering interest rates or injecting credit into the banking system will not effectively stimulate household consumption demand.

III.3. Credit Reversal and Looming Debt Challenges. China's gradualist approach to market-oriented reforms, including active policy interventions to avert economic slowdowns, has led to significant economic and financial challenges. Specifically, the reliance on SOEs and local governments during crises such as the GFC has resulted in a reversal of credit allocation away from private firms and a subsequent surge in corporate and local government debt.

III.3.1. The 2009 Economic Stimulus. In response to the 2008 GFC and a sharp GDP growth decline, China implemented an expansive monetary policy and a four-trillion RMB fiscal plan targeting capital-intensive industries (Bai et al., 2016). This included increasing the M2 supply significantly in 2009 and launching infrastructure investments through local government financing vehicles (LGFVs), which notably increased LGFVs' borrowing but also led to long-term resource misallocation by crowding out credit to the private sector (Huang et al., 2020).

Further studies examine the adverse effects of these policies on credit allocation. Cong et al. (2019) find that the post-2008 monetary stimulus reversed previous trends of allocating credit toward more productive private firms, and instead favored less productive SOEs during 2009-2010. Cun et al. (2020) find that such expansionary policies, although aimed at boosting liquidity, failed to effectively support broader industrial sectors during the downturn due to

^{2014 (}Li, 2016). Recent data from the China Household Finance Survey (CHFS) indicate that top shares in earnings, incomes, and wealth are also declining, a trend partly attributed to post-2008 credit policies that favored unskilled labor-intensive firms (Bai et al., 2020b).

insufficient trade credit. Chen et al. (2023) study the joint effects of fiscal and monetary expansions, finding that while infrastructure investments initially increased bank credit to both SOEs and non-SOEs in the infrastructure sector, they ultimately raised funding costs for firms, particularly non-SOEs, in other sectors, thus exacerbating the crowding out of

In conclusion, while temporarily boosting GDP growth, China's 2009 economic stimulus and subsequent policies have redirected credit from productive private enterprises toward less efficient SOEs and capital-intensive projects. This shift exacerbated capital misallocation and laid the groundwork for a soaring debt-to-GDP ratio and increased financial risks. Indeed, as found by Wei et al. (2017a), the contribution of TFP to GDP growth has turned persistently negative, while the ratio of long-term loans to GDP has risen since 2009. Consequently, the 2009 economic stimulus has cast a long shadow over China's macroeconomic development and financial system, raising concerns about the sustainability of future growth.

private firms.

III.3.2. Looming Debt Challenges and Financial Risks. Since the early 2000s, the ratio of total bank loans to GDP has climbed from around 100% to over 160% by 2020, with total social financing increased to exceed 280%. This increase highlights a surge in shadow banking activities, making China one of the most heavily indebted emerging market economies and escalating financial risks (Chen et al., 2018). The 2009 economic stimulus, involving massive investments by SOEs, significantly increased the debt load of firms, intensifying concerns about financial stability. The stimulus led to a notable expansion in both traditional and shadow banking loans, with the latter's share in total bank credit rising to 20% during 2013-2015 (Chen et al., 2018). These policies resulted in an inefficient allocation of resources, favoring less productive SOEs over more dynamic private firms and contributing to long-term misallocations (Cong et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2020b).

Several studies highlight the limitations of China's monetary policy in the context of rising shadow banking. Chen et al. (2018) demonstrate that increasing shadow loans offset the intended effects of monetary tightening on overall credit. Chen et al. (2020b) attribute the rise of shadow banking around 2012 to local governments' need to roll over debts incurred during the 2009 stimulus. One key risk associated with rising debt levels is corporate default. Chang et al. (2019) analyze the trade-offs of monetary tightening, finding that while it improves efficiency by allocating resources to private firms, it also increases SOE bankruptcy rates and potential bailout costs. This study suggests a policy dilemma between efficiency gains and macroeconomic stability.¹⁰

¹⁰During this period, China's quantity-based monetary policy faced a trade-off between domestic price stability and costly sterilization in the foreign exchange market under restricted capital accounts (Chang et al., 2015).

With various institutional frictions in place, the tightening of banking regulations has been found to generate unintended adverse consequences. Hachem and Song (2021), for example, find that tightened liquidity rules in 2008 spurred shadow banking activities: smaller banks issued more wealth management products to circumvent regulations, prompting larger banks to tighten the interbank market and increase traditional lending. Li et al. (2020) find that adopting Basel III capital regulations in 2013 reduced banks' risk-taking but exacerbated resource misallocation between SOEs and POEs.

China's gradualist reform approach, characterized by frequent interventions and preferential loans, has contributed to rising leverage ratios, as recently exemplified by the debt crises of real estate developers such as Evergrande and the financial strain on local governments. These mounting debt burdens also heighten systemic financial risks. <u>Chen et al.</u> (2022) demonstrate that the use of negotiable certificates of deposit (NCDs) to circumvent deposit rate ceilings during 2013-2017 fueled non-state bank lending. Lax NCD regulation, however, increased these banks' leverage and vulnerability, making them susceptible to shocks such as the trade war and the outburst of Covid-19. The recent bankruptcies of medium-sized banks such as Baoshang and Jingzhou Banks support this analysis.

Summary: Despite its past success, China's gradualist reform strategy has posed significant challenges to its macroeconomy in recent years. The global imbalance and trade wars have undermined the future growth of China's exports, particularly in the capital-intensive and technology-intensive sectors that China has increasingly relied on since its WTO accession. Barriers to transitioning to a consumption-led model have continued to suppress consumption growth as a primary driver of economic expansion. Moreover, looming debt and financial risks have constrained the government's ability to continue using expansionary monetary and fiscal policies to stimulate investment growth. With all three engines of the Chinese economy—consumption, investment, and exports—losing steam, China now stands at a crossroads, facing the need to overhaul its gradualist approach.

IV. CONCLUDING REMARKS

We conclude by revisiting the question posed in the introduction: How has the gradualist approach in China's economic reforms influenced its macroeconomic development since 1978? Our analytic review of the literature suggests that from 1978 to 1997, various reforms accelerated the transition of surplus labor from agriculture to light industries, thereby raising both the supply of and demand for industrial labor. These reforms included the household responsibility system that bolstered agricultural productivity, the establishment of TVEs, the implementation of policies that enabled local governments to actively secure bank credit for TVEs, and openness to trade that allowed for export processing by FIEs and TVEs. These measures spurred the growth of aggregate TFP, which was the principal catalyst for GDP growth during this initial phase.

Since 1998, various reforms such as SOE privatization, trade liberalization, and the relaxation of the Hukou registration system have reduced frictions in labor mobility. The increase in labor mobility enabled a more efficient reallocation of labor and capital within the labor-intensive sector and continued to augment aggregate TFP and its contribution to GDP growth. During this phase, the government's heavy industrialization strategy led to capital deepening, significantly boosting GDP growth. This heavy industrialization process was facilitated by China's pro-growth, quantity-based monetary policy framework and favorable mortgage policies, which fueled the country's housing boom. China's WTO accession further helped integrate it into the global production network and shifted its export composition from labor-intensive to capital-intensive (and even technology-intensive) goods.

While successful in sustaining China's economic growth over the past four decades, the gradualist reform approach has its limitations and has contributed to many challenges faced by the Chinese economy in recent years. The trade surplus generated under the gradualist reforms has led to trade tensions that threaten the sustainability of China's GDP growth. Excessively high household and national saving rates, along with widening income and wealth inequality across households, have become barriers to transitioning to a consumption-led economy and have made growth prospects fragile. Moreover, the 2009 economic stimulus and subsequent lax regulatory policy on shadow banking have caused both the corporate and government sectors to become overleveraged in recent years, endangering financial stability.

China's growth has slowed since the GFC, and this slowdown has accelerated since 2018. The pace of domestic economic reforms has also slowed, while resource reallocation to SOEs has resurged ("State Marches, Private Retreats"). More ambitious industrial policies have been implemented by the government to direct investment decisions (Lardy, 2019). At the same time, more regulations have been imposed on private firms in various industries (e.g., fintech, real estate, and e-commerce). In recent years, China's trade and technology war with the U.S. has posed challenges for firm innovations. With the help of micro and macro data from the past decade, further research is essential to understand recent challenges to China's macroeconomy.

CHINA'S MACROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Year	Key steps
1978-1979	Local experiments of household responsibility system in Sichuan and Anhui
1980	Household responsibility system (HRS) established nationwide
1982	Rural land contracted to households under HRS
1984	Settlement of rural migrants in urban areas
1997	Temporary residence permit for big cities
1998	Legal framework for land tenure rights established
2003	Transfer of land permitted between households
2003-2005	Temporary residence permits eliminated by many provinces
2014	Official distinction between rural and urban Hukou eliminated

TABLE 1. Rural and migration policy reforms

TABLE 2. Reforms on ownership structure

Year	Key steps
1979	TVEs allowed to conduct business for profits
1994	Legal framework for privatization of SOEs established
1995	Small-sized SOEs and TVEs allowed to either go bankrupt or be privatized
1995	National restrictions on private ownership lifted
1997	Program "Grasp the large and let go the small" initiated
2003	SASAC established as the legal owner of central SOEs
2013	Mixed ownership system established

TABLE 3. Trade policy reforms

Year	Key steps
1978	Export-processing (EP) activities allowed for FIEs
1980-1981	Four special economic zones (SEZs) established for EP activities
Early 1980s	Tariff system established
1986	EP activities granted to all firms in coastal provinces
1994-2001	Tariffs reduced unilaterally from an average of 40% to 16%
2004	Trade rights broadened to all domestic and foreign private firms
2005	Eliminated all quotas, licenses, and other non-tariff barriers for manufacturing imports

Note: FIEs is the acronym for foreign-invested enterprises.

TABLE 4. Policy reforms on FDI

Year	Key steps
1980	FIEs allowed to invest in special economic zones
1995	Sector restrictions and joint venture requirements established
2001	Joint venture requirements removed
2002	Government's FDI Catalogue substantially revised
2012	Unified national code of profit taxes for domestic and foreign firms

CHINA'S MACROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

TABLE 5. Housing policy reforms

Year	Key steps
1978 - 1988	Pilot tests on public housing sales
1988	Land transactions allowed
1988	Public house sales initiated with rent increased to match real housing cost
1994	SOE employees allowed to purchase "reformed houses"
1998	Termination of government-distributed housing in China
1998	Residential mortgage loans allowed at subsidized interest rates
2004	All urban land leasehold rights required to be sold at public auction

TABLE 6. Financial policy reforms

Year	Key steps
1978 - 1997	Aggregate credit volume as the intermediate target of monetary policy
1984	PBC as the central bank and four state-owned banks established
1995	PBC Law and Commercial Bank Law enacted
1996 - 1997	Liberalization of interbank interest rates
1998-2015	M2 growth as the intermediate target of monetary policy
2004	Lending rate ceiling removed
2013	Lending rate floor removed
2013	Basel III capital regulation adopted
2015	Deposit rate ceiling removed
2016	The Macro-prudential Assessment (MPA) system established
2017	Off-balance-sheet WMPs included in MPA
2018	NCD developed as interbank liability
2018	M2 growth target removed from government work report

Note: "NCD" represents a negotiable certificate of deposit, and "WMPs" represents wealth management products.



FIGURE 1. GDP growth (annual data). The first vertical green line marks the beginning of the investment driven economy and the second marks the beginning of the new normal economy. Data source: Chen et al. (2024b).

References

- ADAMOPOULO, T., L. BRANDT, J. LEIGHT, AND D. RESTUCCIA (2022): "Misallocation, Selection, and Productivity: A Quantitative Analysis with Panel Data from China," *Econometrica*, 90, 1261–1282.
- AITKEN, B. AND A. HARRISON (1999): "Do domestic firms benefit from direct foreign investment? Evidence from Venezuela," American Economic Review, 89, 605–618.
- AMBROSE, B., Y. DENG, AND J. WU (2015): "Understanding the Risk of China's Local Government Debts and its Linkage with Property Markets," Available at SSRN.
- AUTOR, D., D. DORN, AND G. HANSON (2013): "The China Syndrome: Local Labor Market Effects of Import Competition in the United States," *American Economic Review*, 103, 2121–2168.
- —— (2016): "The China Shock: Learning from Labor-Market Adjustment to Large Changes in Trade," Annual Review of Economics, 8, 205–240.
- BAI, C., C.-T. HSIEH, AND Z. M. SONG (2020a): "Special Deals with Chinese Characteristics," NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2020, 34, 341–379, university of Chicago Press.
- BAI, C., Q. LIU, AND W. YAO (2020b): "Earnings Inequality and China's Preferential Lending Policy," Journal of Development Economics, 145, 102477.
- BAI, C., J. LU, AND Z. TAO (2006): "The Multitask Theory of State Enterprise Reform: Empirical Evidence from China," American Economic Review: Papers and Proceedings, 96, 353–357.
- BAI, C.-E., C.-T. HSIEH, AND Z. M. SONG (2016): "The Long Shadow of a Fiscal Expansion," *Brookings Papers* on *Economic Activity*, Fall, 129–181.
- BAI, Y., D. LU, AND X. TIAN (2018): "Do Financial Frictions Explain Chinese Firms' Saving and Misallocation?" NBER Working Paper 24436.
- BLOOM, N., M. DRACA, AND J. V. REENEN (2016): "Trade Induced Technical Change? The Impact of Chinese Imports on innovation, IT and Productivity," *Review of Economic Studies*, 83, 87–117.
- BRANDT, L., J. V. BIESEBROECK, L. WANG, AND Y. ZHANG (2017): "WTO Accession and Performance of Chinese Manufacturing Firms," *American Economic Review*, 107, 2784–2820.
- BRANDT, L., J. V. BIESEBROECK, AND Y. ZHANG (2012): "Creative Accounting or Creative Destruction? Firm-level Productivity Growth in Chinese Manufacturing," *Journal of Development Economics*, 97, 339–351.
- BRANDT, L., C. HSIEH, AND X. ZHU (2008): "Growth and Structural Transformation in China," in China's Great Economic Transformation, ed. by L. Brandt and T. G. Rawski, Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press, 683–728.
- BRANDT, L. AND P. MORROW (2017): "Tariffs and the organization of trade in China," Journal of International Economics, 104, 85–103.
- BRANDT, L., T. TOMBE, AND X. ZHU (2013): "Factor Market Distortions Across Time, Space and Sectors in China," *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 16, 39–58.
- BRANDT, L. AND X. ZHU (2000): "Redistribution in a Decentralized Economy: Growth and Inflation in China under Reform," Journal of Political Economy, 108, 422–439.
- —— (2007): "China's Banking Sector and Economic Growth," in China's Financial Transition at a Crossroads, ed. by C. W. Calomiris, New York: Columbia University Press, chap. 2.
- (2010): "Accounting for China's Growth," Working Paper 394, Department of Economics, University of Toronto.
- BRANSTETTER, L. (2007): "China's Financial Market: An Overview," in China's Financial Transition at a Crossroads, ed. by C. Calomiris, New York: Columbia University Press, chap. 1, 23–79.
- CHAMON, M., K. LIU, AND E. PRASAD (2013): "Income uncertainty and household savings in China," *Journal of Development Economics*, 105, 164–177.
- CHAMON, M. AND E. PRASAD (2010): "Why Are Saving Rates of Urban Households in China Rising?" American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, 2, 93–130.

- CHANG, C., K. CHEN, D. F. WAGGONER, AND T. ZHA (2016): "Trends and Cycles in China's Macroeconomy," *NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2015*, 30, 1–84, university of Chicago Press.
- CHANG, C., Z. LIU, AND M. M. SPIEGEL (2015): "Capital Controls and Optimal Chinese Monetary Policy," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 74, 1–15.
- CHANG, C., Z. LIU, M. M. SPIEGEL, AND J. ZHANG (2019): "Reserve Requirements and Optimal Chinese Stabilization Policy," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 103, 33–51.
- CHEN, K. (2020): "China's Housing Policy and Housing Boom and Their Macroeconomic Impacts," Oxford Research Encyclopedias, Economics and Finance.
- CHEN, K., H. DU, AND C. MA (2024a): "The Spillover of Real Estate," Tech. rep, Emory University.
- CHEN, K., H. GAO, P. C. HIGGINS, D. F. WAGGONER, AND T. ZHA (2023): "Monetary Stimulus Amidst the Infrastructure Investment Spree: Evidence from China's Loan-level Data," *Journal of Finance*, 13, 1147–1204.
- CHEN, K., P. HIGGINS, AND T. ZHA (2024b): "Constructing quarterly Chinese time series usable for macroeconomic analysis," *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 143, 103052.
- CHEN, K., J. REN, AND T. ZHA (2018): "The Nexus of Monetary Policy and Shadow Banking in China," American Economic Review, 108, 3891–3936.
- CHEN, K., Q. WANG, T. XU, AND T. ZHA (2020a): "Aggregate and Distributional Impacts of LTV Policy: Evidence from China's Micro Data," NBER Working Paper 28092.
- CHEN, K. AND Y. WEN (2017): "The Great Housing Boom of China," *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics*, 9, 73–114.
- CHEN, K., Y. XIAO, AND T. ZHA (2022): "China's Monetary Transmission and Systemic Risk: A Role of Interbank Bond Markets," Unpublished manuscript.
- CHEN, K. AND T. ZHA (2020): "Macroeconomic Effects of China's Financial Policies," in *The Handbook of China's Financial System*, ed. by M. Amstad, G. Sun, and W. Xiong, Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press, chap. 6, 151–182.
- CHEN, T., X. LIU, W. XIONG, AND L. ZHOU (2017): "Real Estate Boom and Misallocation of Capital in China," Working paper, Princeton University.
- CHEN, W., X. CHEN, C.-T. HSIEH, AND Z. M. SONG (2019): "A Forensic Examination of China's National Accounts," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, Spring.
- CHEN, Z., Z. HE, AND C. LIU (2020b): "The Financing of Local Government in China: Stimulus Loan Wanes and Shadow Banking Waxes," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 137, 42–71.
- CHEREMUKHIN, A., M. GOLOSOV, S. GURIEV, AND A. TSYVINSKI (2015): "The Economy of People's Republic of China from 1953," NBER Working Paper 21397.
- CHOUKHMANE, T., N. COEURDACIER, AND K. JIN (2017): "The One-Child Policy and Household Saving," Unpublished manuscript.
- COEURDACIER, N., S. GUIBAUD, AND K. JIN (2015): "Credit Constraints and Growth in a Global Economy," American Economic Review, 105, 2838–2881.
- CONG, L. W., H. GAO, J. PONTICELLI, AND X. YANG (2019): "Credit Allocation Under Economic Stimulus: Evidence from China," *Review of Financial Studies*, 32, 3412–3460.

CUN, W., V. QUADRINI, Q. SUN, AND J. XIA (2020): "Dynamics of Trade Credit in China," Unpublished manuscript.

- CURTUS, C., S. LUGAUER, AND N. MARK (2015): "Demographic Patterns and Household Saving in China," American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, 7, 58–92.
- DEKLE, R. AND G. VANDENBROUCKE (2012): "A quantitative analysis of China's structural transformation," *Journal* of Economic Dynamics and Control, 36, 119–135.
- DOLLARS, D. AND S. WEI (2007): "DAS (Wasted) Kapital: Frim Ownership And Investment Efficiency In China," NBER Working Paper 13103.
- DU, Q. AND S. WEI (2016): "A Darwinian perspective on "exchangerateundervaluation"," European Economic Review, 83, 111–138.

- ERTEN, B. AND J. LEIGH (2021): "Exporting out of agriculture: the impact of WTP accession on structural transformation in China," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 103, 364–380.
- FAN, Y., J. YI, AND J. ZHANG (2021): "Rising Intergenerational Income Persistence in China," American Economic Journal: Economic Policy, 13, 202–230.
- FANG, H., Q. GU, W. XIONG, AND L.-A. ZHOU (2016): "Demystifying the Chinese Housing Boom," NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2015, 30.
- FERNALD, J. G., E. HSU, AND M. M. SPIEGEL (2021): "Is China Fidging its GDP Figures? Evidence from Trading Partner Data," Journal of International Money and Finance, 110, 102262.
- FISHER, J., D. JOHNSON, T. SMEEDING, AND J. THOMPSON (2019): "Estimating the Marginal Propensity to Consume Using the Distributions of Income, Consumption and Wealth," Federal Reserve Bank of Boston Working Paper, No. 19-4.
- FU, X. (2011): "Processing Trade, FDI and the Exports of Indigenous Firms: Firm-Level Evidence from Technology-Intensive Industries in China," oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 73, 792–817.
- GARRIGA, C., A. HEDLUND, P. WANG, AND Y. TANG (2017): "Rural-Urban Migration, Structural Transformation, and Housing Markets in China," NBER Working Paper 23819.
- GE, S. AND D. T. YANG (2014): "Changes in China's Wage Structure," *Journal of European Economic Association*, 12, 300–336.
- HACHEM, K. AND M. Z. SONG (2021): "Liquidity Rules and Credit Booms," *Journal of Political Economy*, 129, 2729–2761.
- HANDLEY, K. AND N. LIMÃO (2017): "Policy Uncertainty, Trade, and Welfare: Theory and Evidence for China and the United States," American Economic Review, 107, 2731–2783.
- HAO, T., R. SUN, T. TOMBE, AND X. ZHU (2020): "The Effect of Migration Policy on Growth, Structural Change, and Regional Inequality in China," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 113, 112–134.
- HE, H., F. HUANG, Z. LIU, AND D. ZHU (2018): "Breaking the Iron Rice Bowl: Evidence of Precautionary Savings from the Chinese State-owned Enterprises Reform," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 94, 94–113.
- HIROSHI, S., T. SICULAR, AND X. YUE (2013): "Housing ownership, incomes and inequality in China, 2002-2007," in *Rising inequality in China: Key issues and findings*, ed. by S. Li, H. Sato, and T. Sicular, Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 85–141.
- HOLZ, C. (2014): "The Quality of China's GDP Statistics," China Economic Review, 2, 309-338.
- HONG, E. AND X. WANG (2011): "Foreign Direct Investment and Total Factor Productivity in China: A Spatial Dynamic Panel Analysis," oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 73, 771–791.
- HSIEH, C.-T. AND P. J. KLENOW (2009): "Misallocation and Manufacturing TFP in China and India," Quarterly Journal of Economics, CXXIV, 1403–1448.
- HSIEH, C.-T. AND Z. M. SONG (2015): "Grasp the Large, Let Go of the Small: The Transformation of the State Sector in China," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, Spring, 295–346.
- HUANG, Y. (2020): "Monetary Policy Framework and Transmission Mechanisms," in *The Handbook of China's Financial System*, ed. by M. Amstad, G. Sun, and W. Xiong, Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press, chap. 2, 38–62.
- HUANG, Y., M. PAGANO, AND U. PANIZZA (2020): "Local Crowding Out in China," Journal of Finance, 75, 2855–2898.
- HUANG, Y. AND X. WANG (2011): "Does Financial Repression Inhibit or Facilitate Economic Growth? A Case Study of Chinese Reform Experience," oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 73, 833–855.
- IMROHOROGLU, A. AND K. ZHAO (2018): "The Chinese Saving Rate: Long-term Care Risks, Family Insurance, and Demographics," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 96, 33–52.
- —— (2020): "Household Saving, Financial Constraints, and the Current Account in China," International Economic Review, 61, 71–103.

- JIANG, K., W. KELLER, L. D. QIU, AND W. RIDLEY (2019): "International Joint ventures and internal vs. external technology transfer: Evidence from China," NBER Working Paper No. 24455.
- JIANG, S., J. MIAO, AND Y. ZHANG (2021): "China's Housing Bubble, Infrastructure Investment, and Economic Growth," *International Economic Review*, forthcoming.
- JIAO, Y., Z. LIU, Z. TIAN, AND X. WANG (Forthcoming): "The Impacts of the U.S. Trade War on Chinese Exporters," *Review of Economics and Statistics.*
- JU, J., K. SHI, AND S. WEI (2021): "Trade reforms and current account imbalances," Journal of International Economics, 131, forthcoming.
- KHANDELWAL, A., P. SCHOTT, AND S. WEI (2013): "Trade Liberalization and Embedded Institutional Reform: Evidence from Chinese Exporters," *American Economic Review*, 103, 2169–2195.
- KLEIN, N. (2008): The Shock Doctrine: The Rise of Disaster Capitalism, New York: Picador, first ed.
- KNIGHT, J., S. LI, AND H. WAN (2020): "The Increasing Inequality of Wealth in China," in *Changing Trends in China's Inequality: Evidence, Analysis, and Prospects*, ed. by T. Sicular, S. Li, X. Yue, and H. Sato, Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, chap. 4.
- LARDY, N. (2019): The State Strikes Back: The End of Economic Reform in China, Washington, DC: Peterson Institute for International Economics.
- LAU, L., Y. QIAN, AND G. ROLAND (2000): "Reform without Losers: An Interpretation of China's Dual-Track Approach to Transition," *Journal of Political Economy*, 108, 120–143.
- LI, X., X. LIU, AND Y. WANG (2016): "A Model of China's State Capitalism," Unpublished Manuscript.
- LI, X., Z. LIU, Y. PENG, AND Z. XU (2020): "Bank Risk-Taking and Monetary Policy Transmission: Evidence from China," Unpublished manuscript.
- LI, Z. (2016): "Forecasting China's Economy: A Bayesian Approach," Unpublished Manuscript, Emory University.
- LIN, J. Y. (1992): "Rural Reforms and Agricultural Growth in China." American Economic Review, 82, 34-51.
- LIU, C. AND W. XIONG (2020): "China's Real Estate Market," in *China's Financial System*, ed. by M. Amstad, G. Sun, and W. Xiong, Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- LIU, E. (2019): "Industrial Policies in Production Network," Quarterly Journal of Economics, 134, 1883–1948.
- LIU, Z., M. SPIEGEL, AND J. ZHANG (2020a): "Optimal Capital Account Liberalization in China," Journal of Monetary Economics, forthcoming.
- LIU, Z., P. WANG, AND Z. XU (2020b): "Interest-Rate Liberalization and Capital Misallocations," American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, forthcoming.
- LU, Y., Z. TAO, AND L. ZHU (2017): "Identifying FDI Spillovers," Journal of International Economics, 107, 75-90.
- MIDRIGAN, V. AND D. Y. XU (2014): "Finance and Misallocation: Evidence from Plant-Level Data," American Economic Review, 104, 422–458.
- NAKAMURA, E., J. STEINSSON, AND M. LIU (2016): "Are Chinese Growth and Inflation Too Smooth? Evidence from Engel Curves," *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics*, 8, 113–144.
- NAUGHTON, B. (2018): The Chinese Economy: Adaption and Growth, Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- NGAI, R., C. PISSARIDES, AND J. WANG (2019): "China's Mobility Barrier and Employment Allocations," *Journal* of European Economic Association, 17, 1617–1653.
- OI, J. (1992): "Fiscal Reform and the Economic Foundations of Local State Corporatism in China," World Politics, 45, 99–126.
- PEI, X. (2002): "The Contribution of Collective Landownership to China's Economic Transition and Rural Industrialization: A Resource Allocation Model," *Morden China*, 28, 279–314.
- PIKETTY, T., L. YANG, AND G. ZUCMAN (2019): "Capital Accumulation, Private Property, and Rising Inequality in China, 1978–2015," American Economic Review, 109, 2469–2496.
- SANTAEULÀLIA-LLOPIS, R. AND Y. ZHENG (2018): "The Price of Growth: Consumption Insurance in China 1989-2009," American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, 10, 1–35.

- SONG, Z., K. STORESLETTEN, AND F. ZILIBOTTI (2011): "Growing Like China," American Economic Review, 101, 196–233.
- STRAUB, L. (2019): "Consumption, saving and the distribution of permanent income," Tech. rep, Harvard University.
- TOMBE, T. AND X. ZHU (2019): "Trade, Migration, and Productivity: A Quantitative Analysis of China," *American Economic Review*, 109, 1843–1872.
- WANG, P., Y. WEN, AND Z. XU (2017): "Two-Way Capital Flows and Global Imbalance," *Economic Journal*, 127, 229–269.
- WANG, S.-Y. (2011): "State Misallocation and Housing Prices: Theory and Evidence from China," The American Economic Review, 101, 2081–2157.
- WANG, Y. (2020): "The Politico-Dynamics of China's Economic Growth," Journal of European Economic Association, 19, 1–42.
- WANG, Z., S. WEI, X. YU, AND K. ZHU (2018): "Re-examining the Effects of Trading with China on Local Labor Markets: A Supply Chain Perspective," NBER Working Paper.
- WAUGH, M. (2019): "The Consumption Response to Trade Shocks: Evidence From the US-China Trade War," NBER Working Paper No. 26353.
- WEI, S., Z. XIE, AND X. ZHANG (2017a): "From "Made in China" to "Innovated in China": Necessity, Prospect, and Challenges," *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 37, 49–70.
- WEI, S. AND X. ZHANG (2011): "The Competitive Saving Motive: Evidence from Rising Sex Ratios and Savings Rates in China," *Journal of Political Economy*, 119, 511–564.
- WEI, S., X. ZHANG, AND Y. LIU (2017b): "Home ownership as status competition: Some theory and evidence," Journal of Development Economics, 127, 169–186.
- WEN, Y. (2010): "Saving and Growth under Borrowing Constraints: -Explaining the "High Saving Rate" Puzzle," Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Working Paper 2009-045C.
- WU, G. L. (2018): "Capital Misallocation in China: Financial Frictions or Policy Distortions?" Journal of Development Economics, 130, 203—-223.
- WU, H. X. (2014): "China's growth and productivity performance debt revisited Accounting for China's source of growth with a new data set," Tech. rep, The Conference Board.
- XU, C. (2011): "The Fundamental Institutions of China's Reforms and Development," Journal of Economic Literature, 49, 1076–1151.
- XU, C. AND X. ZHANG (2009): "The Evolution of Chinese Entrepreneurial Firms: Township-Village Enterprises Revisited," IFPRI Discussion Paper 854, International Food Policy Research Institute.
- YANG, D. T. (2012): "Aggregate savings and external imbalances in China," Journal of Economic Perspectives, 26, 125–146.
- YAO, S. (2006): "On economic growth, FDI and exports in China," Applied Economics, 38, 339–351.
- YOUNG, A. (2003): "Gold into Base Metals: Productivity Growth in the People's Republic of China during the Reform Period," *Journal of Political Economy*, 111, 1220–1261.
- ZHANG, K. H. AND S. SONG (2000): "Promoting exports: The role of inward FDI in China," China Economic Review, 11, 385–396.

Emory University and Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta; Federal Reserve Bank of At-Lanta, Emory University, and NBER